IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CEDRIC CATCHINGS	APPELLANT
v.	NO. 2008-KA-1260-COA
STATE OF MISSISSIPPI	APPELLEE
	AND THE AND
BRIEF OF THE A	AFFELLANI

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS
Justin T Cook, MS Bar No.
301 North Lamar Street, Suite 210
Jackson, Mississippi 39201
Telephone: 601-576-4200

Counsel for Cedric Catchings

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CEDRIC CATCHINGS

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2008-KA-1260-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE ONE:

WHETHER THE APPELLANT WAS DEPRIVED OF HIS FUNDAMENTAL RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL BY REPEATED ACTS OF PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT, INCLUDING INADMISSIBLE "SEND A MESSAGE" ARGUMENTS AND IMPROPER QUESTIONS WHICH UNDOUBTEDLY INFLAMED THE PASSIONS OF THE JURY. AND, WHETHER IMPROPER COMMENTS ON THE APPELLANT'S POST-MIRANDA SILENCE BY THE STATE'S LEAD INVESTIGATOR DEPRIVED THE APPELLANT OF HIS FUNDAMENTAL RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL?

ISSUE TWO:

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT ALLOWING TRIAL COUNSEL TO FULLY CROSS-EXAMINE DANIEL JEANTY, A NON-PARTY WITNESS, REGARDING HIS TWO PREVIOUS FELONY CONVICTIONS WHEN IT WAS IMPOSSIBLE THAT THE ADMISSION OF HIS PRIOR CONVICTIONS WOULD RESULT IN ANY PREJUDICE.

ISSUE THREE:

WHETHER ANY OF THE ABOVE ERRORS, ALL CONCERNING VIOLATION OF THE APPELLANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS, MAY BE CONSIDERED HARMLESS.

ISSUE FOUR

WHETHER CUMULATIVE ERROR EFFECTING THE APPELLANT'S FUNDAMENTAL RIGHTS GUARANTEED TO HIM BY THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, DEPRIVED THE APPELLANT OF HIS FUNDAMENTAL RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION

Cedric Catchings, the Appellant in this case, is presently incarcerated in the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This honorable Court has jurisdiction of this case pursuant to Article 6, Section 146 of the Mississippi Constitution and Miss. Code Ann. 99-35-101.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Hinds County, Mississippi, and a judgment of conviction on one count of capital murder against Cedric Catchings, following a trial on May 19-21, 2008, the Honorable Winston L. Kidd, Circuit Judge, presiding. Catching was subsequently sentenced to life without parole in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

FACTS

Before any evidence was presented at trial, the Hinds County District Attorney, in his opening statement, said the following:

"Defendant Catchings decided that Mr. Redmond would see no other day and the only just verdict in this case is guilty for capital murder because he murdered and robbed Mr. Redmond. The only just verdict for the City of Jackson, for Hinds County, for the State of Mississippi, the United States of America and Mr. Redmond who is no longer here —"

(T. 56).

This was immediately objected to as a "send a message argument." (T. 56). The trial court directed the District Attorney to rephrase his statement, thus <u>sustaining defense counsel's objection</u>. (T. 56). After one additional sentence, the District Attorney's opening statement ended, and the trial continued.

According to the testimony presented at trial, on March 3, 2007, Jackson Police Department

Officer Mark Coleman (Officer Coleman) responded to a call on Hanging Moss Circle. (T. 57). When he arrived on the scene, he exited his car and approached a white vehicle parked on the left side of the street. (T. 57). As he approached he noticed a young deceased male in the front seat who he observed was bleeding from the head. (T. 57).

After notifying his supervisor, Officer Coleman approached a group of people nearby to obtain statements from any potential witnesses. (T. 58). Officer Coleman was given a description of someone seen running west from the area. (T. 58). Officer Coleman also ran the tag of the vehicle in question, and it came back as registered to the man found in the car, Kareen Redmond (Redmond). (T. 58).

Upon closer examination of the vehicle, Officer Redmond observed spent rounds in the back seat of the vehicle, (T. 59). Officer Redmond also observed that Redmond's pockets had been turned out. (T. 59).

Daniel Jeanty (Jeanty) testified that he was living in Jackson and was at a barbeque at his sister-in-law's house on the day in question. (T. 62). While outside, Jeanty heard a shot, looked towards a car, and saw a man exit the vehicle, and look around. (T. 63). When officers arrived, Jeanty gave them a description of the person he saw. (T. 63). Jeanty then said he thought "something ain't right" and he and his brother-in-law decided to go to the store. (T. 63). Then, Jeanty testified he heard more shots. (T. 63).

Jeanty testified that eventually police showed up and he gave them a description of the person he saw. (T. 63). Jeanty further testified that the next day he was at Auto Zone and saw the same person he saw exiting the vehicle. (T. 65). According to Jeanty, when the person saw him, he "took off." (T. 65).

At the close of Jeanty's testimony, the District Attorney asked the following question; "Can

you tell us if the suspect who shot, murdered, and robbed Mr. Redmond, is he in the courtroom today?" (T. 65-66). Defense counsel immediately and timely objected to the question, to which the trial court asked the District Attorney to rephrase his question. (T. 66). The District Attorney then simply asked; "The person that you saw running from the scene that day, do you see him in the courtroom today?" (T. 66). Jeanty responded affirmatively, ending his testimony. The trial continued.

During Jeanty's cross-examination, defense counsel attempted to question him regarding his prior criminal convictions for burglary and fleeing from a police officer. Outside of the presence of the jury, the trial court heard arguments from both sides, ultimately concluding that Jeanty's prior convictions would be more prejudicial than probative. (T. 75-76). Catchings' trial continued without being able to question Jeanty regarding his previous felony convictions.

Jackson Police Department Sergeant Perry Tate then testified to finding a piece of paper insider of Redmond's vehicle. (T. 81). According to his testimony, that paper contained information, which, through the course of some investigation, led police officers to Cedric Catchings. (T. 81-83). Law enforcement agents went to Catchings' house and spoke with Catchings. (T. 88). Police checked Catchings for local warrants, and arrested him on two misdemeanor warrants. (T. 88). Police, through both a consent search and, later, a search warrant, recovered a nine millimeter hand gun bullets, clips, and a holster. (T. 88-89). Crime Scene Investigator Charles Taylor testified to recovering spent nine millimeter cartridges at the crime scene. (T. 94). Carl Fullilove ("Fullilove"), a forensic scientist with the Mississippi Crime Laboratory, testified that six cartridge cases submitted to him from the scene of the crime matched a nine millimeter that was recovered pursuant to a search warrant of Catchings' residence. (T. 130).

buoxistisus

After Investigator Taylor's testimony, trial counsel made a motion that any testimony based on the phone records be excluded. (T. 102). Trial counsel contended that the documents were hearsay and that the proper avenue for admittance was through the custodian of records. (T. 102). The District Attorney argued that because the phone numbers were part of the detective's investigation, they were admissible. (T. 103). The trial court concluded that the records had not been admitted, but overruled the objection because the officer gave testimony based upon his observation of the record. (T. 103).

Leslie Blakeney (Blakeney), an employee of Trustmark National Bank, testified as to the contents of Redmond's credit card transactions. (T. 104). Blakeney testified to four completed transactions in Jackson, as well as several declined transactions. (T. 104-105). These transactions occurred from 2:15 P.M. to 4:24 P.M. On March 3, 2007. (T. 105-06).

Homicide Detective Kent Daniels (Detective Daniels) then took the stand. Detective Daniels testified that he obtained a video of the transactions involving Redmond's bank account. (T. 111). Detective Daniels testified that upon the execution of a search warrant on Catchings' home, police officers several items that were purchased on Redmond's credit card. (T. 114-16).

During Detective Daniels testimony, he testified; "So this particular day Mr. Catchings was carried to police headquarters where he was interviewed but he refused to give a statement." (7. 113). Defense counsel immediately and timely objected, and approached the bench. (T. 114). After Daniels's testimony, defense counsel moved for a mistrial. (T. 139). Defense counsel argued the Fifth Amendment right to remain silent was a fundamental right, and comment on the exercise of such right by witnesses is impermissible. (T. 139-40).

The District Attorney responded,

"Your Honor, we do not believe under the recent case law, the latest case law, that this is reversible error. The detective commenting on a suspect's

refusal to make a statement was just a matter of fact. It was not a matter of his Fifth Amendment right, not being advised of the Defendant's right to not make a statement."

(T. 140).

After additional argument, the trial court denied the motion for a mistrial, concluding that the testimony given did not have any prejudice on Catchings. (T. 141) The trial continued, and, after one additional witness, Dr. Steven Hayne, who testified as to the cause of Redmond's death, the State rested. (T. 145-50). Subsequently, the defense moved for a directed verdict, which was denied. (T. 151-55).

Cedric Catchings took the stand in his own defense. Catchings, an evacuee from Hurricane Katrina, testified that on the day in question he was at a barbershop. (T. 157). While at the barbershop, he was approached by a man he knew as "Little Robert." (T. 157). Little Robert asked Catchings if he could use his (Catchings') phone, and Catchings obliged. (T. 157). Thee was no answer, but shortly after someone called back. (T. 158). Little Robert then told Catchings that he was going to meet with the caller and asked if he could borrow Catchings' gun. (T. 158). When Little Robert returned he had some marijuana. (T. 159). Catchings testified that Little Robert gave him a card to purchase some gasoline for his car. (T.159). Catchings then returned home and picked up his wife, went to the gas station, used the card to purchase gas, then went to the mall. (T. 159-60). Catchings admitted to using the Redmond's card but denied robbing him or killing him. (T. 162). Catchings further denied even knowing Redmond.

During its cross-examination of Catchings, the State of Mississippi, through the District Attorney, continually attempted to question Catchings regarding the content of the cellular telephone records that had not been admitted into evidence. (T. 168-70). This was done over the repeatedly sustained objection of defense counsel.

After Catchings' testimony, the defense rested its case. Upon hearing the evidence presented against the Appellant at trial, both properly and improperly put before them, the jury, after deliberation, returned verdicts of guilty of capital murder against the Appellant. (C.P. 42, R.E.6). The Appellant was sentenced to life in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections without the eligibility of parole. (C.P. 42, R.E. 6).

On May 28, 2007, the Appellant filed a Motion for a New Trial, or, in the Alternative, for a Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict. (C.P. 44-46, R.E. 7-9). The motion was denied by the trial court on June 26, 2008. (C.P. 48, R.E. 10). Feeling aggrieved by the verdict of the jury and the sentence of the trial court, the Appellant timely filed a notice of appeal. (C.P. 49, R.E.11).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Every criminal defendant is entitled to a fair trial. Every jury is entrusted to decide the case based on the evidence properly presented before them. Neither Cedric Catchings, nor the jury that found him guilty were afforded such opportunity.

The State of Mississippi, through the Hinds County District Attorney himself and a homicide investigator, who surely was experienced in testifying in trials, dismantled the machine of justice cog by cog First, the Hinds County District Attorney made a "send a message" argument during his opening statement. This statement was timely objected to and sustained by the trial court. The jury was never told to disregard the statement. Nevertheless, the trial continued. Then, during the direct examination of Danie Jeanty, one of the State's witness, the District Attorney made a calculated and deliberate attempt to inflame the passions of the jury during what should have been a routine in-court identification. This was timely objected to and sustained by the trial court.

D Sond

C) Jeanly Mct Id () Orlydlag

Then, Detective Kent Daniels, a homicide investigator for the Jackson Police Department

commented that Catchings failed to give a statement when taken into custody. The was objected

Faller to Sur

Short

ashy

to. Out of the presence of the jury, trial counsel moved for a mistrial, which was subsequently denied by the trial court. Catchings' trial continued, despite that multitude of improprieties.

Next, during the cross-examination of Catchings, the District Attorney attempted to question. Catchings regarding the content of telephone records that had not been admitted into evidence. Defense counsel made a timely objection, which was sustained by the trial court. The trial court specifically instructed the District Attorney not to question Catchings regarding the content of the records. Then, in flagrant disregard of the trial court's ruling, the District Attorney asked the same question. This was objected to. The District Attorney asked the same question again. Nevertheless, the Catchings' trial continued.

During closing arguments, the State again made a "send a message" argument, which was objected to. The trial court, however, overruled the objection, focusing on one word rather than the entirety of the statement.

After this multitude of actions on the part of the State, the jury returned a guilty verdict which was undoubtedly influenced by the State's impermissible conduct. The State's actions were calculated to deprive Catchings of his fair trial and the jury of their sworn duty. The State knew or should have known better, and the trial court should have declared a mistrial.

Furthermore, the trial judge also erred when it would not allow Catchings to fully cross-examine Daniel Jeanty regarding his previous felony convictions. The trial judge concluded that the prejudicial effect far outweighed the probative value. However, there was no prejudice to Jeanty as he was a third-party witness. Furthermore, the probative value was substantial, as his credibility was important towards the determination of the truthfulness of his testimony. The failure to allow Catchings to fully cross-examine limited his fundamental right to confront the witnesses against him and resulted in error.

76) Pelodo Nelodo

Prosena Prosena

6 Tank Orbitalis Sylvan Political Po

ARGUMENT

ISSUE ONE:

WHETHER THE APPELLANT WAS DEPRIVED OF HIS FUNDAMENTAL RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL BY REPEATED ACTS OF PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT, INCLUDING INADMISSIBLE "SEND A MESSAGE" ARGUMENTS AND IMPROPER QUESTIONS WHICH UNDOUBTEDLY INFLAMED THE PASSIONS OF THE JURY. AND, WHETHER IMPROPER COMMENTS ON THE APPELLANT'S POST-MIRANDA SILENCE BY THE STATE'S LEAD INVESTIGATOR DEPRIVED THE APPELLANT OF HIS FUNDAMENTAL RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL?

i. The Hinds County District Attorney improperly made a "send a message" argument during his opening Statement.

Before any evidence had been presented to the jury and before any witness had taken stand, the State of Mississippi, through Hinds County's District Attorney, took its first step in dismantling Cedric Catching's fundamental right to a fair trial.

During its opening statement, the District Attorney said the following:

"This Defendant, after you listen to the evidence, exercised unlawfully the power to take another man out of this world. Defendant Catchings decided that Mr. Redmond would see no other day and the only just verdict in this case is guilty for capital murder because he murdered and robbed Mr. Redmond. The only just verdict for the City of Jackson, for Hinds County, for the State of Mississippi, the United States of America and Mr. Redmond who is no longer here —

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Objection, Your honor.

THE COURT: Hold on.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Objection. Sending a message from the community.

THE COURT: You can rephrase, Mr. Smith. Sustained.

[DISTRICT ATTORNEY]: The only just verdict after the evidence is guilty of capital murder for Mr. Redmond who is no longer here and never will be.

¹ This is merely the most objectionable actions of the Hinds County District Attorney's office. The record is replete with instances of improper and impermissible comments by the Hinds County District Attorney's office not limited to the ones presented in this issue.

(T. 55-6).

For two decades, the Mississippi Supreme Court has warned prosecutors to not encourage juries to use their verdict to "send a message" to the public or other criminals;

"The jurors are representatives of the community in one sense, but they are not to vote in a representative capacity. Each juror is to apply the law to the evidence and vote accordingly. The issue which each juror must resolve is not whether or not he or she wishes to "send a message" but whether or not he or she believes that the evidence showed the defendant to be guilty of the crime charged. The jury is an arm of the State but it not an arm of the prosecution. The State includes both the prosecution and the accused. The function of the jury is to weigh the evidence and determine the facts. When the prosecution wishes to send a message they should employ Western Union. Mississippi jurors are not messenger boys."

Williams v. State, 522 So. 2d 201, 209 (Miss. 1988).

Depending upon the facts and circumstances of each case, "send a message" arguments maystanding alone- constitute reversible error. Payton v. State, 785 So. 2d 267, 271 (Miss. 1999).

are two threshold inquiries, followed by a two-pronged test. The first threshold question is whether

the defense counsel objected to the statements made by the prosecution. See Spicer v. State, 921 So.

2d 292, 318-19 (Miss. 2006).² The second threshold question is whether the defense counsel invited the comment made by the prosecution. Id. at 318.

therefore, the first threshold inquiry is satisfied. Secondly, there is nothing in the record to indicate that defense counsel in any way invited the comments. Therefore, the second threshold question has

² It should be noted, however, that the Supreme Court has stated that despite the absence of objection, the Court will not procedurally bar the issue where "the [send a message] argument is so 'inflammatory' that the trial judge should have objected on his own motion." Spicer, 921 So. 2d at 317 (internal citations omitted). This is indicative of the seriousness in which the Mississippi Supreme Court considers such send a message arguments.

t Speake

been satisfied.

must determine (1) whether the remarks were improper, and (2) if so, whether the remarks prejudicially affected the accused's rights."

In clarifying the proper assessment of the second prong of the Spicer test, the Mississippi Supreme Court recently concluded, "[T]o meet the second prong of the test, we hold that it must be clear beyond a reasonably doubt that, absent the prosecutor's inappropriate comments, the jury would have found the defendant gailty." Brown v. State, 986 So. 2d 270, 276 (Miss. 2008) (emphasis in original). The Court reasoned that this is essentially a harmless error analysis. **Id.**

There can be little doubt that such comments had an effect on the conviction of Cedric Catchings. The first thing the jury heard from the District Attorney was a comment which has been routinely criticized and condemned by the Mississippi Supreme Court. The bell had been rung. And, though trite, the adage is true, "you can't un-ring a bell."

With its "send a message" argument, the District Attorney had set the table for a trial that would continue, littered with inappropriate questions, prosecutorial misconduct and statements by State officials which were inadmissible.

ii. The Hinds County District Attorney's improper questioning of Daniel Jeanty was deliberately calculated to inflame the passions of the jury and had no basis in evidence.

During the course of a routine in-court identification, the Hinds County District Attorney, being fully aware of what had previously been testified to by Daniel Jeanty, asked the following question to Jeanty:

"Q. Can you tell us if the suspect who shot, murdered, and robbed Mr. Redmond, is he in the courtroom today?

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Objection to the form of the question.

THE COURT: Rephrase your question.

Q. The person that you saw running from the scene that day, do you see him in the courtroom today?"

(T. 65-6).

It is abundantly clear, given the nature of the follow-up question posed by The District Attorney, the State was well-aware of the nature of what Jeanty testified to. There can be no inference drawn which can hold that the District Attorney's comments were anything other than a deliberate attempt to inflame the passions of a jury already primed by his previous inadmissible comments.

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