IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CEDRIC CATCHINGS

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-KA-1260

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LAURA H. TEDDER SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601)359-3680

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

At trial, defense counsel objected to the prosecutor's question to Daniel Jeanty, "Can you tell us if that suspect who, shot, murdered, and robbed Mr. Redmond, is he in the courtroom today." (Tr. 66-67) Defense counsel immediately interposed an objection to the form of the

question. The trial court sustained the objection and directed the prosecutor to rephrase his question, whereupon the prosecutor asked Mr. Jeanty, "The person you saw running from the scene that day, do you see him in the courtroom." (Tr. 66-67) Mr. Jeanty then identified Catchings as the person he saw running from the vehicle where the victim's body was found. (Tr. (66-67) Defense counsel did not ask for any further relief.

Where a trial judge sustains an objection to testimony interposed by the defense in a criminal case and instructs the jury to disregard it, the remedial acts of the court are usually deemed sufficient to remove any prejudicial effect from the minds of jurors. *Vickery v. State*, 535 So.2d 1371, 1380 (Miss.1988). While the testimony regarding Bradley's prior arrest for kidnaping was improper, the trial judge sustained the objection and instructed the jury to disregard the testimony. Furthermore, prior to deliberations the trial judge specifically instructed the jury, "you are to disregard all evidence which was excluded by the court from consideration during the course of the trial." The jury is presumed to follow the instructions of the judge. Id. This argument is without merit.

C. The statement made by Kent Daniels in his testimony that Catchings did not make a statement to police did not constitute prosecutorial misconduct and did not prejudice Catchings.

During his testimony, Detective Kent Daniels was asked by the prosecutor "And what did you find when you went inside the defendant's home?" (Tr. 113) Daniels replied, "This I believe was our first visit on March the 6th. We found a gun holster, an empty box where bullets were in, and a couple more items. So this particular day Mr. Catchings was carried to police headquarters where he was interviewed but he refused to give a statement. (Tr. 113) Defense counsel objected and asked to approach the bench. (Tr. 114) The trial judge conducted a conference at the bench which is not included in the record. (Tr. 114) Daniels' examination continued. (Tr. 114) The State presented the testimony of Carl Fullilove, Jr., and then tendered Fullilove for cross examination. (Tr. 139) At this time, defense counsel made a motion for mistrial based on the testimony of Kent Daniels. (Tr. 139) The trial court ruled that Daniels testimony did not prejudice Catchings, overruled the objection and denied the motion for mistrial. (Tr. 141)

Further, there is nothing in the record to show that Catchings was Mirandized. In his brief, Catchings asserts that he "was afforded the full protection of his right to remain silent." (Appellant's brief at 13) However, he does not show that Catchings was Mirandized. Further, at trial, there was no testimony or proffer that Catchings had been Mirandized at the time he was transported to police headquarters and declined to make a statement. Catching's relies on *Quick v. State*, 569 So.2d 1197, 1199 (Miss. 1990) for the proposition that " [i]t is improper and, ordinarily, reversible error to comment on the accused's post-Miranda silence." With no testimony in the record to establish that Catchings had been Mirandized, there is no showing that Catchings refusal to make a statement was "post-Miranda silence" and therefore that Detective Daniels' statement was improper. Therefore, this issue is without merit.

Assuming, *arguendo*, that Detective Daniels statement was a comment on Catching's "post-Miranda silence", it is important to note that Daniels testimony was not elicited by the prosecutor but was offered almost as an aside. In ruling on Cathing's motion for mistrial, the trial court noted that Daniels' testimony did not prejudice Catchings. (Tr. 141) Whether to grant a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial court. *Shelton v. State*, 853 So.2d 1171, 1183 (Miss.2003). The standard of review for denial of a motion for mistrial is abuse of

discretion. Pulphus v. State, 782 So.2d 1220, 1222 (Miss.2001)." Wright v. State, 958 So.2d 158, 161 (Miss.2007) (emphasis added).

D. The prosecutor's reference to phone records did not constitute prosecutorial misconduct.

Catchings argues that the prosecutor's failure to rephrase a question regarding telephone calls made between the defendant and the victim just prior to the murder was prosecutorial misconduct. Catchings testified that officers came to his door asking his phone number. He gave them a number. After questioned by the prosecutor, Catchings testified that it was a new number. He testified that he changed his number on Monday, March 5th. The victim was murdered on March 3rd. Catchings confirmed the victim's number during his testimony on cross examination. The prosecutor that asked, "And your number appears in his number nine times. Did you know that?" (Tr. 168) Defense counsel objected and the trial court sustained the objection, stating, "You can just ask a question, but don't refer to the phone records. Sustained." (Tr. 168) The prosecutor repeated "Are you aware your number appears in there five times?" Counsel for the defense interjected. The prosecutor asked, "Did you call him nine times?" The trial judge asked the lawyers to approach and a bench conference was held. (Tr. 169) Because the bench conference is not on the record, it is impossible to tell exactly what occurred. There is nothing in the record to indicate that this was prosecutorial misconduct. Further, there was testimony admitted earlier in the trial that the respective numbers of Catchings and the victim, Redmond, showed up on each others bills. That testimony was elicited without objection from Sergeant Perry Tate. Clearly, since the information was already in evidence, there was no prejudice to Catchings from the later reference to the phone bills by the prosecutor. This issue is

without merit.

E. The trial court correctly ruled that the prosecutor's statement during closing argument did not constitute a "send a message" argument.

"Trial courts are allowed considerable discretion to determine whether or not the conduct of an attorney in argument is so prejudicial that an objection should be sustained or a new trial granted." *Harvey v. State*, 666 So.2d 798, 801 (Miss.1995) (citing *Edmond v. State*, 312 So.2d 702, 705 (Miss.1975)). "The test to make such determination is whether the natural and probable effect of improper argument is to create unjust prejudice against the accused so as to result in a decision influenced by prejudice." *Harvey*, 666 So.2d at 801 (citing *Johnson v. State*, 596 So.2d 865, 869 (Miss.1992)).

In closing argument, the prosecution stated the following, referring to Catchings:

Now, he says he's from New Orleans. Now that may do that in New Orleans but he didn't need to be bringing that mess here to Jackson, Mississippi. And it is up to the jury to find him guilty of capital murder to let him know that we're not going to put up with that mess. (Tr. 211)

Counsel for the defendant objected that the argument was "showing a message." The trial court ruled that the statement was directed at the defendant. The argument was not to send a message to criminals or to the general public, but to send a message to this defendant who was on trial for murdering Kareen Redmond.

To determine whether an argument constitutes error, the Mississippi Supreme Court uses a formula consisting of two threshold inquiries and a two-part test to determine if such an argument constitutes reversible error. *Brown v. State*, 986 So.2d 270, 275-76 (Miss.2008). The threshold inquiries ask: (1) if the defense counsel objected, and (2) if the defense counsel appeared to have invited the remark in light of the surrounding circumstances. *Id.* at 276. The two-part test then requires the court to evaluate: "(1) whether the remarks were improper, and (2) if so, whether the remarks prejudicially affected the accused's rights." *Spicer v. State*, 921 So.2d 292, 318 (Miss. 2006).

Reviewing the argument under the standard set forth by the supreme court, we find that the State's argument did not constitute reversible error. The first inquiry is satisfied because the defense properly objected. We next ask if it appears that the defense counsel invited the prosecutor's comments, and "[i]f so ... the issue may be waived." *Brown*, 986 So.2d at 276.

Analyzing this statement under the two-prong test, there is no error. To qualify as "improper" under the first prong, a statement must "tend to cajole or coerce a jury to reach a verdict for the purpose of meeting public favor and not based on the evidence." *Spicer*, 921 So.2d at 318. The prosecution, but its statement, did not appeal to the jury to send a message to the public or to meet public favor by convicting Catchings. The prosecution did not ask the jury to send a message to anyone but the defendant, and such message is based on his guilt under the evidence presented. The second prong is met when it is "clear beyond a reasonable doubt that, absent the prosecutor's inappropriate comments, the jury would have found the defendant guilty. *Brown*, 986 So.2d at 276. The statement was not inappropriate argument, however, the evidence against Catchings is so overwhelming that it is indeed clear that the jury would have found Catchings guilty without this statement by the prosecutor. Catchings was identified standing beside the victim's car where he was found dead. The witnesses heard shots fired immediately before they saw Catchings beside the victim's car. The proof showed that Catchings used the victim's credit card to go on a shopping spree immediately after the victim's death. Upon searching Catching's house, police discovered several weapons including the nine millimeter gun Catchings used to murder Redmond. This issue is without merit and the rulings of the trial court should be upheld.

II. The trial court did not err in ruling inadmissible testimony of witness Daniel Jeanty's previous felony convictions.

The standard of review we employ regarding the admissibility of evidence is well settled: a trial judge enjoys a great deal of discretion as to the relevancy and admissibility of evidence. Unless the judge abuses this discretion so as to be prejudicial to the accused, the Court will not reverse this ruling. *Robinson v. State*, 940 So.2d 235, 238 (Miss.2006) (quoting *Turner v. State*, 732 So.2d 937, 946 (Miss.1999)).

M.R.E. 609 provides in pertinent part that "evidence that a non-party witness has been convicted of a crime shall be admitted subject to Rule 403, if the crime was punishable by death or imprisonment in excess of one year under the law under which the witness was convicted." The McJeanty's prior convictions were offered to impeach McJeanty's credibility. The trial court made a finding on the record, pursuant to Rules 609 and 403 that the convictions were more prejudicial than probative as to McJeanty's credibility. (Tr. 75) The trial court stated that after hearing the witness's testimony on direct and on cross and after having reviewed the matter, "the convictions of this witness are not relevant and that they would be more prejudicial than probative." (Tr. 76)

Further, as the prosecution noted at trial burglary and fleeing from law enforcement are not *crimen falsi*. (Tr. 73) The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that theft crimes are not in the nature of crimen falsi.

On the precise question of whether theft crimes fit within M.R.E. 609(a)(2), one authority has noted that while the majority of federal courts considering the question have found that such crimes do not fit within the meaning of crimes of dishonesty or false statement contemplated by the rule, the state courts have split about evenly on the issue. Joseph & Saltzburg, Evidence in America, Ch. 43, p. 14 (1987). The Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals has strictly construed the Rule to crimes of the type listed in the comment to our Rule. It has held, for example, that shoplifting is not the type of crime in the nature of crimen falsi covered by the Rule. United States v. Ashley, 569 F.2d 975 (5th Cir.1978), rh'g. denied, 573 F.2d 85, cert. denied, 439 U.S. 853, 99 S.Ct. 163, 58 L.Ed.2d 159. We hold, in accordance with the majority of federal courts, that a burglary conviction is not ordinarily admissible under M.R.E. 609(a)(2) and that convictions under that rule should be limited to crimes in the nature of crimen falsi. Accordingly, the trial court should not have allowed Willie's conviction under that rule.

Townsend v. State, 605 So.2d 767, 770 (Miss. 1992).

However, for the sake of argument only, if the trial court did err in excluding Jeanty's prior convictions for burglary and fleeing from law enforcement, this error was harmless. "[F]or a case to be reversed on the admission or exclusion of evidence, it must result in prejudice and harm or adversely affect a substantial right of a party. Error is reversible only where it is of such magnitude as to leave no doubt that the appellant was unduly prejudiced." *Holladay v. Holladay*, 776 So.2d 662, 672 (Miss.2000). The Constitution does not guarantee a perfect trial, but it does entitle a defendant in a criminal case to a fair trial. *Clark v. State*, 891 So.2d 136, 141 (Miss.2004), citing *Delaware v. Van Arsdall*, 475 U.S. 673, 681, 106 S.Ct. 1431, 1436, 89 L.Ed.2d 674 (1986).

In light of the overwhelming evidence against Catchings, the alleged error was harmless. See *Clark*, 891 So.2d at 142; *Riddley v. State*, 777 So.2d 31, 35 (Miss.2000); *Kircher v. State*, 753 So.2d 1017, 1027 (Miss.1999). The Supreme Court has held that where there has been an improper restriction on a defendants' ability to impeach a witness, certain factors must be looked at to determine whether or not the error was harmless. *Delaware v. Van Arsdall*, 475 U.S. at 681, 106 S.Ct. at 1436. "These factors include the importance of the witness' testimony in the prosecution's case, whether the testimony was cumulative, the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted, and, of course, the overall strength of the prosecution's case." *Van Arsdall*, 475 U.S. at 684, 106 S.Ct. at 1438. There was overwhelming evidence against Hammons to support the jury's finding and corroborating McJeanty's testimony.

III. Any and all alleged points of error in the trial were harmless.

"[F]or a case to be reversed on the admission or exclusion of evidence, it must result in prejudice and harm or adversely affect a substantial right of a party. Error is reversible only where it is of such magnitude as to leave no doubt that the appellant was unduly prejudiced." Holladay v. Holladay, 776 So.2d 662, 672 (Miss.2000). The Constitution does not guarantee a perfect trial, but it does entitle a defendant in a criminal case to a fair trial. Clark v. State, 891 So.2d 136, 141 (Miss.2004), citing Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 681, 106 S.Ct. 1431, 1436, 89 L.Ed.2d 674 (1986).

In light of the overwhelming evidence against Catchings, any alleged error of the trial court was harmless. See *Clark*, 891 So.2d at 142; *Riddley v. State*, 777 So.2d 31, 35 (Miss.2000); *Kircher v. State*, 753 So.2d 1017, 1027 (Miss.1999). The Supreme Court has held that where there has been an improper restriction on a defendants' ability to impeach a witness, certain factors must be looked at to determine whether or not the error was harmless. *Delaware v. Van*

Arsdall, 475 U.S. at 681, 106 S.Ct. at 1436. "These factors include the importance of the witness' testimony in the prosecution's case, whether the testimony was cumulative, the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted, and, of course, the overall strength of the prosecution's case." *Van Arsdall*, 475 U.S. at 684, 106 S.Ct. at 1438.

IV. There was no error at trial and therefore there can be no cumulative error.

Mississippi appellate courts may reverse a conviction and sentence based upon the cumulative effect of errors that independently would not require reversal." *Sykes v. State*, 895 So.2d 191, 196 (Miss.Ct.App.2005) (citing Jenkins v. State, 607 So.2d 1171, 1183-84 (Miss.1992)). The Mississippi Supreme Court has established the standard by which appellate courts are to review the effect of cumulative errors on a defendant's right to a fair trial:

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